THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

J.C. Nicholson, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2017-001298

Thayer W. Arredondo, as Personal Representative of the
Estate of Hubert Whaley, deceased, Respondent,

v.

SNH SE Ashley River Tenant, LLC; FVE Managers, Inc.;
Five Star Quality Care, Inc.; SNH SE Tenant TRS, Inc.;
Senior Housing Properties Trust; SNH TRS, Inc.; Candy D.
Cure; John Doe, Jane Doe; Richard Roe Corporation; and
Mary Doe Corporation, Defendants,

Of whom SNE SE Ashley River Tenant, LLC; FVE
Managers, Inc.; Five Star Quality Care, Inc.; SNH SE Tenant
TRS, Inc.; Senior Housing Properties Trust; SNH TRS, Inc.;

Statement of the Issues on Appeal

1. Did the lower court err in holding that authority granted to Plaintiff by two Powers of Attorney did not authorize her to enter into an arbitration agreement because arbitration was not specifically listed among the powers?

2. Did the lower court err in holding that Plaintiff did not have apparent authority to enter an arbitration agreement for her father where her father had provided Plaintiff with two broad Powers of Attorney enabling her to contract for him, institute legal actions, grant waivers to nursing providers, waive his rights, execute instruments of every kind, and execute releases of any right, and Plaintiff presented those Powers of Attorney to the Defendants?

3. Did the lower court err in holding that the terms of an arbitration agreement were unconscionable, when the reasons relied upon by the lower court contravened the mandates of the Federal Arbitration Act, South Carolina precedent, and the record before the circuit court?

Statement of the Case

This is an appeal from the circuit court's denial of the Defendants' Motion to Dismiss and to Compel Arbitration. Plaintiff filed a Notice of Intent to File Suit against Defendants on May 16, 2016, alleging "[n]umerous failures, deficiencies, omissions, and breach of the standard of care were committed by the Defendants" in causing the death of Hubert Whaley. (R, p. 146) Following an unsuccessful mediation, Plaintiff filed suit against Defendants on October 4, 2016 asserting claims for negligence, negligence per se, fraud, and punitive damages. (R, p. 8) Defendants filed an Answer on November 16, 2016. (R, p. 36) Contemporaneous with their Answer, Defendants filed a Motion to Dismiss and to Compel Arbitration. (R, p. 82)

On January 27, 2017, the circuit court heard oral arguments on Defendants' Motion. (R, p. 58) The circuit court then denied Defendants' Motion by Order entered on April 18, 2017 ("Order"); Defendants received notice of the Order on April 19. (R, p. 1) Pursuant to Rule 59(e) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure, Defendants filed a Motion to Reconsider on May 1, 2017. (R, p. 117) The Circuit Court entered an Order denying the Motion to Reconsider, which was filed on May 10, 2017. (R, p. 7) Defendants served the Notice of Appeal on Plaintiff on June 6, 2017, and the Notice was filed by the Court of Appeals on June 7, 2017. On June 14, 2017, Defendants requested the transcript from the January 27, 2017 hearing and received the transcript on July 5, 2017.

Statement of the Facts

In October 2012, Plaintiff, Thayer Arredondo, sought to have her father, Hubert Whaley, admitted as a resident at Ashley River Plantation (“Ashley River”), a senior living community owned and operated by various Defendants. At that time, Mr. Whaley was an 84-year old who suffered from confusion resulting from his diagnosed dementia. (R, p. 29, p. 30)

As a result of Mr. Whaley’s dementia, Plaintiff was authorized to act as Mr. Whaley’s Power of Attorney and Attorney-in-Fact pursuant to a General Durable Power of Attorney (“General POA”) and a Healthcare Power of Attorney (“Healthcare POA”), both executed by Mr. Whaley on January 30, 2003 (collectively, “POAs”). (R, p. 89, p. 104, p. 109) Pursuant to the POAs, Plaintiff voluntarily executed a stand-alone arbitration agreement requiring the parties arbitrate any disputes arising out of Plaintiff’s relationship with Ashley River, including alleged deficiencies in Mr. Whaley’s care (the “Agreement”). (R, p. 114 – 116) These three documents—the General POA, the Healthcare POA, and the Agreement—are central to the issue before this Court and are discussed more fully below.

THE GENERAL POA. The General POA appointed Plaintiff to act as Mr. Whaley’s agent “with the same force and effect as if [Mr. Whaley] were personally present and had executed or performed the same.” (R, p. 105) Under the General POA, “the signature” of Plaintiff “may be accepted by third parties” “as if done under [Mr. Whaley’s] Hand and Seal. . . .” (R, p. 108) The first paragraph of the General POA specifically authorized Plaintiff to “execute . . . any and all instruments or writings of every kind . . . including . . . releases . . . of any . . . right” on Mr. Whaley’s behalf. (R, p. 105) Mr. Whaley never placed any limitation on Plaintiff’s authority to enter into agreements, waivers, or releases of his rights.

THE HEALTHCARE POA. The Healthcare POA also granted Plaintiff broad authority to act on Mr. Whaley’s behalf. Mr. Whaley “intended” the Healthcare POA “to be as broad as possible” to allow Plaintiff to act with the “same authority to make decisions about [Mr. Whaley’s] health care as [Mr. Whaley] would have.” (R, p. 98) Plaintiff’s authority specifically included “granting any waiver” to a “nursing care provider” and “pursuing any legal action in [Mr. Whaley’s] name.” (R, p. 100, p. 101) Immediately beneath this provision, Paragraph 11(e) provided Mr. Whaley an opportunity to limit Plaintiff’s “broad” authority, but he did not. (R, p. 101) Instead, he left Plaintiff’s authority to be “as broad as possible” without limitation. *Id.*

THE AGREEMENT. After Mr. Whaley was admitted to Ashley River, Plaintiff, acting on behalf of herself and Mr. Whaley pursuant to the POAs, entered into the Agreement to arbitrate any subsequent dispute between the parties. (Agreement.) Specifically, the Agreement provided:

- Plaintiff and Five Star “**agree[]d that any claims, controversies, or disputes arising between them involving a potential monetary amount in excess of \$25,000 shall be resolved exclusively by binding arbitration.**” This bolded language appears in Paragraph 1 on the first page of the Arbitration Agreement. (R, p. 114) (emphasis in original).
- “**Both the Resident and Five Star waive their right to a trial by jury.**” This bolded provision appeared in the first paragraph on the top of page 2 of the Agreement. (R, p. 115) (emphasis in original).
- Plaintiff further agreed that she had:
 - “carefully read” the Agreement;
 - “asked any questions necessary to understand the terms, consequences, and bind effect” of the Agreement;
 - was “executing this Agreement voluntarily;” and
 - was “provided an opportunity to seek the advice of an attorney of their choice before signing this Agreement.” *Id.*
- “**THIS CONTRACT CONTAINS BOTH AN ARBITRATION PROVISION AND A WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL, WHICH MAY BE ENFORCED BY THE PARTIES.**” This bolded, underlined provision in all capital letters appeared just inches above Plaintiff’s signature. (R, p. 116) (emphasis in original).

Plaintiff executed the Agreement on behalf of herself and Mr. Whaley on October 12, 2012. (R, p. 114) Nonetheless, in violation of the Agreement, Plaintiff filed this civil action against Defendants seeking damages for alleged deficiencies related to Mr. Whaley's residency and death in February 2014. (R, p. 8) After Defendants filed a Motion to Dismiss and Compel Arbitration, the circuit court entered an Order denying the Motion. (R, p. 1)

Argument

The circuit court's order denying Five Star's right to litigate this dispute through arbitration should be reversed for several reasons. First, on the issue of actual authority, the circuit court's ruling that Plaintiff's authority under the POAs is limited to only specific acts "expressly conferred" by the POAs is inconsistent with this Court's prior holding that an agent may act beyond what is "expressly granted in the power of attorney." In that regard, the circuit court's ruling also violates the clear mandates of the Federal Arbitration Act ("FAA"). Second, on the issue of apparent authority, the circuit court's conclusion that "it is impossible" Mr. Whaley made "manifestations of apparent authority" since "he was not present when the arbitration agreement was signed" ignores the two powers of attorney that, at minimum, manifested apparent authority for Plaintiff to act on behalf of Mr. Whaley. Third, on the issue of unconscionability, the circuit court's determination that the Agreement is unconscionable is based on reasoning this Court has previously rejected that would unduly restrict the right for parties to arbitrate disputes in this State.

The circuit court's denial of Defendants' motion to compel arbitration is immediately appealable and subject to de novo review. *See, e.g., Johnson v. Heritage Healthcare of Estill, LLC*, 416 S.C. 508, 512, 788 S.E.2d 216, 218 (2016); *Towles v. United HealthCare Corp.*, 338 S.C. 29, 34, 524 S.E.2d 839, 842 (Ct. App. 1999). Under the de novo standard, the party "opposing

arbitration bears the burden” to demonstrate “a valid defense.” *Johnson*, at 512; 788 S.E.2d at 218. This is a burden Plaintiff cannot carry.

I. The Court’s Analysis is Subject to an Emphatic Policy in Favor of Arbitration.

We start with the FAA since it establishes the foundational policy lens through which the Defendants’ motion must be viewed. The FAA places arbitration agreements “on equal footing with all other contracts” by making them “valid, irrevocable, and enforceable.” *AT&T Mobility LLC v. Concepcion*, 563 U.S. 333, 333 (2011). Under the FAA a court may not refuse an arbitration agreement unless the party opposing arbitration establishes “a generally applicable contract defense,” and not some defense that singles out arbitration agreements. *Id.* Congress enacted the FAA to replace an “ancient judicial hostility to arbitration” with an “emphatic federal policy” in favor of arbitration that requires courts to “generously construe[]” the “intention of the parties” in accordance with the “strong presumption” in favor of arbitration. *Mitsubishi Motors Corp. v. Soler Chrysler-Plymouth, Inc.*, 473 U.S. 614, 626 (1985).

A strong presumption in favor of arbitration is also well-settled policy in South Carolina. South Carolina appellate courts have consistently recognized that arbitration agreements “enjoy a strong presumption of validity” arising from “the strong policy favoring arbitration” under both federal and state law. *Towles*, at 35; 524 S.E.2d at 842; *Dean v. Heritage Healthcare of Ridgeway, LLC*, 408 S.C. 371, 380, 759 S.E.2d 727, 732 (2014). Carrying out this “strong policy,” South Carolina courts analyze arbitration agreements with a “healthy regard for the federal policy favoring arbitration.” *Towles*, at 35; 524 S.E.2d at 842. In short, both the FAA and South Carolina law require that courts resolve any doubt in favor of enforcing arbitration.

The circuit court recognized that the FAA applied to this case. (R, p. 2, p. 3); *see also Dean*, at 382; 759 S.E.2d at 733 (applying the FAA to senior living community arbitration agreements).

But the circuit court then did what the FAA prohibits: it applied a heightened standard for interpreting powers of attorney that South Carolina courts do not apply to powers of attorney in other contexts. In doing so, the circuit court failed to acknowledge the FAA's guiding policy in favor of arbitration agreements. *Id.* Contrary to the circuit court's approach, determining the scope of actual or apparent authority conferred by the POAs requires deference to the "emphatic federal policy" establishing a "strong presumption" in favor of arbitration. And any alleged unconscionability must be judged in the same light.

II. The Circuit Court Erred by Concluding Plaintiff did not Possess Actual or Apparent Authority to Execute the Agreement on Behalf of Her Father.

The sole question before the Court on authority is whether Plaintiff met her burden of proving the scope of her authority under the POAs did not encompass executing an arbitration agreement with Mr. Whaley's healthcare provider. Because the Agreement is one of the kinds of acts that were authorized or reasonably appeared to be authorized under at least three discrete provisions of the POAs the lower court's order should be reversed.

a. The POAs conferred actual authority on Plaintiff to execute an agreement with Mr. Whaley's healthcare provider to select the venue for potential legal claims and a jury trial.

According to both this Court and the Supreme Court of the United States, an agent may sign agreements that fall within kinds of acts a power of attorney authorizes even if the authority is not expressly listed by the power of attorney. In this case, the POAs authorize Plaintiff to (1) pursue legal action in Mr. Whaley's name; (2) execute waivers required by his healthcare providers; and (3) execute any instruments, releases, or waivers of Mr. Whaley's rights. (R, p. 105, p. 100, p. 101) Signing an arbitration agreement with a senior living facility providing care to Mr. Whaley is the kind of act each of these provisions authorized. Moreover, while this Court has not analyzed this specific question, this Court has implicitly held that a general or healthcare power of

attorney sufficiently authorizes an agent to sign an agreement with a healthcare provider on behalf of a principal. Now that the issue is squarely before this Court, it should affirm that this is the law.

i. Plaintiff's authority under the POAs is not strictly limited to the specific acts and authorities "expressly conferred" by the POAs.

The Court's analysis begins with the POAs. A power of attorney authorizes an agent to "perform certain specified acts *or kinds of acts*" on behalf of a principal. *First South Bank v. Rosenberg*, 418 S.C. 170, 179, 790 S.E.2d 919, 924 (Ct. App. 2016) (emphasis added). Where a dispute centers on the scope of the "kinds of acts" an agent may perform under a power of attorney, the traditional rules of contractual interpretation apply. *Id.* Outside of referencing the traditional rules of contractual interpretation, neither this Court nor the Supreme Court of South Carolina has established a uniform approach to interpret the scope of the "kinds of acts" authorized by specific powers of attorney. This Court has, however, unambiguously rejected the interpretation advocated by Plaintiff and erroneously adopted by the circuit court in this case.

The circuit court interpreted the POAs to exclude signing the Agreement solely because "Mr. Whaley never expressly conferred any authority to Ms. Arredondo to execute the arbitration agreement" and the POAs did not "expressly [give] Ms. Arredondo permission to sign the Arbitration Agreement" (R, p. 3) The circuit court apparently founded its rationale on a line of cases analyzing the existence of, not the scope of, agency relationships in cases that did not involve a power of attorney. (R, p. 3) (citing *Charleston, S.C. Registry for Golf & Tourism, Inc. v. Young Clement Rivers & Tisdale, LLP*, 359 S.C. 635, 642, 598 S.E.2d 717, 721 (Ct. App. 2004)). But here it is the scope, not the existence, of an otherwise conceded agency relationship that is in dispute.

Under facts similar to this case involving a power of attorney, this Court rejected the approach utilized by the circuit court below. In *First South Bank v. Rosenberg*, a principal

attempted to repudiate a guaranty executed under a power of attorney authorizing his agent to sign documents necessary to close a real estate transaction, but that did not specifically list a guaranty among the documents that could be signed. 418 S.C. 170, 790 S.E.2d 919 (Ct. App. 2016). The principal argued this “court should adopt the position that the authority to bind under a guaranty must be expressly granted in the power of attorney.” *Id.* at 179; 790 S.E.2d at 924. This Court’s response was direct: “We disagree.” *Id.*

Contrary to the circuit court’s narrowly focused analysis in this case, which would have held the guaranty in *Rosenberg* invalid since it was not specifically listed in the power of attorney, this Court applied the traditional rules of contractual interpretation to read the arbitration agreement as a whole document and give effect to the intention of the parties. *Id.* The Court held that South Carolina law does not support the position that every potential authorized act must be specifically spelled out in a power of attorney: “[W]e reject Brust’s contention that an agent cannot sign a guaranty on behalf of his principal pursuant to a power of attorney unless the power of attorney specifically authorized the execution because this assertion is unsupported by South Carolina law.” *Id.* at 181; 790 S.E.2d at 925-26.

This Court’s rejection of the “expressly granted” argument interpreting a power of attorney in other contexts dictates that applying that interpretation in the context of arbitration agreements would violate the FAA. The FAA’s “equal-treatment principle” prohibits states from “disfavoring contracts that” waive the “right to go to court and receive a jury trial.” *Kindred Nursing Centers Ltd. P’ship v. Clark*, 137 S. Ct. 1421, 1424 (2017) (reversing an order denying a motion to compel arbitration based on the purported scope of a power of attorney). Just months after the circuit court’s order, *Kindred* confirmed that a trial court may not require “an explicit statement” of authority in a power of attorney for “an agent” to be authorized to “relinquish her principal’s right”

to a jury trial unless the law of the state uniformly limits powers of attorney to only what is explicitly stated therein. *Id.* The Court held that such a requirement is “exactly what [the Supreme Court of the United States] has barred.” *Id.*

Just as the Supreme Court did in *Kindred*, this Court has rejected the same kind of requirement for an explicit statement of specific authority to act under a power of attorney. *Rosenberg*, at 179; 790 S.E.2d at 924. The circuit court nonetheless required the POAs “expressly confer” authority to sign an arbitration agreement that “waived [Mr. Whaley’s] constitutional right to a jury trial.” (R, p. 3) Just like the lower court’s order in *Kindred*, the circuit court’s order in this case is “exactly what [the Supreme Court of the United States] has barred” and it violates the FAA. *Kindred*, at 1424. The circuit court’s failure to look beyond what was “expressly conferred” by the POAs’ authority cannot stand under South Carolina or federal law.

ii. The POAs unambiguously demonstrate an intent for Plaintiff to possess actual authority to execute contracts like the Agreement, especially when “construed generously” in favor of arbitration.

Analyzing the POAs in light of the traditional rules of contractual interpretation and the holding in *Rosenberg*, three discrete provisions in particular evidence Mr. Whaley’s intent to authorize Plaintiff to execute agreements such as the one at issue. The traditional rules of contract interpretation instruct the Court to “look[] to the language of the contract” and “give effect to the intention of the parties.” *Rosenberg*, at 180; 790 S.E.2d at 925. (internal quotation omitted). The “intention of the parties” must be “generously construed” in accordance with the “strong presumption” in favor of arbitration even if the authority to execute an arbitration agreement is not “expressly granted in the power of attorney.” *Mitsubishi Motors Corp*, 473 U.S. at 626; *Rosenberg*, at 179; 790 S.E.2d at 924. In this case, at least three separate provisions of the POAs demonstrate Mr. Whaley’s unambiguous intent to grant Plaintiff this authority.

First, the Healthcare POA authorized Plaintiff to “pursu[e] any legal action in [Mr. Whaley’s] name.” (R, p. 101) According to the Healthcare POA, Mr. Whaley intended this authority “to be as broad as possible.” (R, p. 98) Presented with the opportunity to limit Plaintiff’s “broad” authority, Mr. Whaley elected not to do so. (R, p. 101) Inherent in her “broad” and unlimited authority to “pursu[e] any legal action” on Mr. Whaley’s behalf is Plaintiff’s ability to select the forum and venue for that “legal action,” including arbitration. (R, p. 101)

Second, the Healthcare POA authorized Plaintiff to “grant[] any waiver” to a “nursing care provider.” (R, p. 100, p. 101) Mr. Whaley intended this authority to be “as broad a possible” and elected not to limit it in any manner or otherwise exempt waivers of a jury trial from the Healthcare POA, as the POA form gave him the ability to do.

Third, the General POA authorized Plaintiff to “execute . . . any and all instruments or writing of every kind . . . including . . . releases . . . of any . . . right” on Mr. Whaley’s behalf. (R, p. 105) Again, Mr. Whaley did not place any limitation of Plaintiff’s authority to release any of his rights – including his “right to a jury trial.”

Analyzing the POAs as a whole and these three provisions in particular reveals a clear “intention of the parties” for Plaintiff to “perform . . . the kinds of acts” like executing the Agreement. This becomes inescapable when the POAs are construed generously to accomplish the “empathic federal policy” establishing “a strong presumption” in favor of arbitration.

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