THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED
NOV 13 2017
SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
J.C. Nicholson, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2017-001298

Thayer W. Arredondo, as Personal Representative of the Estate of Hubert Whaley,
deceased,.....Respondent,

v.

SNH SE Ashley River Tenant, LLC; FVE Managers, Inc.; Five Star Quality Care, Inc.; SNH
SE Tenant TRS, Inc.; Senior Housing Properties Trust; SNH TRS, Inc.; Candy D. Cure; John
Doe; Jane Doe; Richard Roe Corporation; and Mary Roe
Corporation,.....Defendants,

Of whom SNE SE Ashley River Tenant, LLC; FVE Managers, Inc.; Five Star Quality Care,

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

(R. pp. 100-101) (emphasis added). Taking into account the entire sentence, it is apparent that "granting any waiver" and "pursuing any legal action in my name" refer

back to “decisions concerning my health care.”² *Id.* An arbitration agreement and jury trial waiver are not decisions that concern health care. “[T]he authority conveyed by a principal to an agent to handle finances or make health care decisions does not encompass executing an agreement to resolve legal claims by arbitration, thereby waiving the principal’s right of access to the courts and to a jury trial.” *Thompson v. Pruitt Corp.*, 416 S.C. 43, 55, 784 S.E.2d 679, 686 (Ct. App. 2016); accord *Coleman v. Mariner Health Care, Inc.*, 407 S.C. 346, 354, 755 S.E.2d 450, 454 (2014) (“The separate arbitration agreement concerned neither health care nor payment, but instead provided an optional method for dispute resolution between Facility and Decedent or Sister should issues arise in the future.”).³

Further, as to the waiver clause, it specifically refers to a “waiver or release **from liability.**” (R. pp. 100-101) (emphasis added). An arbitration agreement is not a waiver of liability but a waiver of the right to a trial by jury in court. This clause cannot be interpreted as granting actual authority to execute an arbitration agreement.

² Appellants argue that pursuing a legal action should include the “ability to select the forum and venue . . . , including arbitration.” (Br. of App. p. 11). Arbitration and venue are not the same thing. “[V]enue is the place or geographical location of trial.” *Dove v. Gold Kist*, 314 S.C. 235, 238, 442 S.E.2d 598, 600 (1994) (citing *In re Asbestosis Cases*, 276 S.C. 579, 281 S.E.2d 112 (1981) (“venue” refers to the county where the action should be brought)). The same decisionmaker and civil procedure and evidence rules apply in any venue. On the contrary, arbitration is the absence of our state civil procedure and evidence rules and involves a different decisionmaker that is paid by the parties.

³ Appellants attempt to minimize the law in *Thompson* and *Coleman* because the signatories to the arbitration agreements in those cases did not have a power of attorney. (Br. of App. pp. 13-14). This is irrelevant to the point of law on which Respondent relies. Whether a power of attorney existed in those cases does not change the law that a health care decision does not include an agreement to resolve legal claims by arbitration or without a jury.

As to the legal action clause, it refers to “punitive damages”, which the arbitration agreement at issue prohibits. (R. p. 114 (stating the arbitration panel “shall have no authority to award punitive or exemplary damages”). Therefore, that clause cannot be interpreted to grant authority to execute an arbitration agreement that contains a provision that prohibits something the power of attorney expressly permits.

Appellants incorrectly represent to the Court that the health care power of attorney states “Mr. Whaley intended this authority ‘to be as broad as possible.’” (Br. of App. p. 11). The health care power of attorney states in full: “My Agent’s authority *to interpret my desires* is intended to be as broad as possible, except for any limitations I state below.” (R. p. 100) (emphasis added). The full sentence shows that “as broad as possible” refers to the agent’s authority to interpret Mr. Whaley’s desires, and not to an interpretation of the agent’s authority in general.

The third provision Appellants point to is in the general durable power of attorney. Again, a full reading of the provision shows it cannot reasonably be interpreted to have anything to do with arbitration or the waiver of a jury trial. The full provision is 99 words, of which Appellants only state 15 words in their brief. This is telling as to the significance of the omission in properly interpreting the provision. The attorney-in-fact has authority:

To make, sign, execute, issue, assign, transfer, endorse, release, satisfy and deliver any and all instruments or writing of every kind and description whatsoever, whether sealed or unsealed, *of, in or concerning any or all of my business affairs, property or other assets whatsoever, including all property, real, personal or mixed, stocks, securities and choses in action*, and wheresoever situated, including, without limiting the generality hereof thereto, notes, bonds, mortgages, leases, deeds, conveyances, bills of sale, and assignments, endorsements, releases, satisfactions, pledges or any agreements concerning any transfers of the above or of any other property, right or thing.

(R. p. 105) (emphasis added). This provision refers to authority related to Mr. Whaley's business affairs and real or personal property, including financial property such as stocks and securities. It does not grant the authority to enter into an arbitration agreement and waive his right to a trial by jury.

Appellants' argument that interpreting the provisions as Respondent asserts would mean that Ms. Arredondo would have some rights as it relates to litigating this case but not the right to waive a jury trial is illogical and misses the issue before the Court. The issue is whether she had authority *in October 2012 as attorney-in-fact* to execute the arbitration agreement. The choices she makes in litigating this case *today* arise out of her status as the *court-appointed personal representative* of Mr. Whaley's estate. (R. p. 8 (stating Ms. Arredondo "was duly appointed as the Personal Representative of the Estate of Hubert Whaley . . . on March 6, 2015 in the Charleston County Probate Court in South Carolina.")). The Court should disregard this argument.

B. Appellants' Argument II.a.iii is Unpreserved and Meritless as South Carolina does Not have a Brightline Rule that Every Power of Attorney Confers the Authority to Agree to Arbitration

Appellants' Argument section II.a.iii arguing essentially that anyone with a power of attorney may execute an arbitration agreement is unpreserved and wholly unsupported by the law. Appellants filed a motion to reconsider that does not raise this issue. Appellants argued in the motion to reconsider only that Ms. Arredondo had authority to agree to arbitrate based on certain provisions of the powers of attorney. (R. pp. 120-122). Appellants did not reference the argument they make on appeal that an agent with a power of attorney is authorized to execute an arbitration agreement with a health care provider. (*Id.*; Br. of App. pp. 12-13). "In order to preserve an issue for appellate review, the issue must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial court."

Holy Loch Distribs. v. Hitchcock, 340 S.C. 20, 24, 531 S.E.2d 282, 284 (2000); *Floyd v. Floyd*, 365 S.C. 56, 73, 615 S.E.2d 465, 474 (Ct. App. 2005) (“Without an initial ruling by the trial court, a reviewing court simply would not be able to evaluate whether the trial court committed error.” (internal quotation marks omitted)).

Further, this argument is not supported by South Carolina law. It is illogical to argue that the mere existence of a power of attorney means that the agent can sign an arbitration agreement as this would make an interpretation of the power of attorney, and thus Appellants’ arguments to the lower court, unnecessary. The existence of a power of attorney conveys some authority to the agent but the issue is determining the scope of that authority. None of the cases cited by Appellants support this bright line rule. (Br. of App. pp. 12-13). For example, in the unpublished opinion of *Scott v. Heritage Healthcare of Estill, LLC*, Op. No. 2014-UP-317, 2014 WL 3845113 (S.C. Ct. App. filed Aug. 6, 2014)⁴, Appellants incorrectly state that the Court of Appeals refused to enforce an arbitration agreement because the resident’s sister did not have a health care power of attorney. (Br. of App. pp. 12-13). What the Court actually held is that the resident’s sister “lacked authority to enter into the Arbitration Agreement on Jones’ behalf because Jones was competent at the time of her admission.” 2014 WL 3845113, *2.

Appellants’ argument would make the language of a power of attorney irrelevant and eliminate the infirmed person’s power to dictate what his or her agent may do. The correct approach is the one used by the lower court to analyze the language of a power of attorney on a case-by-case basis to determine what powers an agent possesses.

⁴ Respondent notes that Appellants’ citation to an unpublished opinion is improper under Rule 268(d)(2), SCACR.

C. Appellants' Argument II.a.i is Unpreserved and Meritless as the Lower Court Expressly Followed State and Federal Arbitration Law

Appellants' Argument section II.a.i. regarding whether the powers of attorney "expressly conferred" the authority to agree to arbitrate and waive the right to a jury trial is unpreserved and a misreading of the lower court's order and the law applicable to this case. (Br. of App. pp. 8-10). Appellants filed a motion to reconsider that does not raise this issue. Appellants argued in the motion to reconsider only that Ms. Arredondo had authority to agree to arbitrate based on certain provisions of the powers of attorney. (R. pp. 120-122). Appellants did not reference or challenge the lower court's use of the "expressly conferred" language or cite to the South Carolina case they now raise on appeal. (*Id.*; Br. of App. p. 8). "In order to preserve an issue for appellate review, the issue must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial court." *Holy Loch Distribs.*, 340 S.C. at 24, 531 S.E.2d at 284; *Floyd*, 365 S.C. at 73, 615 S.E.2d at 474 ("Without an initial ruling by the trial court, a reviewing court simply would not be able to evaluate whether the trial court committed error." (internal quotation marks omitted)). This issue is not preserved, and the Court should decline to consider it.

Appellants are also incorrect on the merits of this argument. The lower court did not base its ruling on actual authority solely on the fact that the powers of attorney do not state Ms. Arredondo may execute an arbitration agreement. A review of the hearing transcript and the lower court's Order reveals that it heard argument on and considered the interpretation of the provisions of the powers of attorney. (R. pp. 64-67, 72-73, 79). The lower court determined those documents could not be interpreted to confer actual authority. The Order does not state the Court's ruling is based solely on an absence of express language stating the agent may execute an arbitration agreement but that "neither

of these documents conferred on Ms. Arredondo the authority to execute the Arbitration Agreement on Mr. Whaley's behalf and waive his constitutional right to a jury trial." (R. p. 3).

The lower court's order states the correct, applicable South Carolina law. *Id.* The "expressly conferred" language is taken directly from a case that states: "While actual authority is that which is *expressly conferred* upon the agent by the principal, apparent authority is that which, though not actually granted, the principal knowingly permits the agent to exercise, or which the principal holds the agent out as possessing." *Charleston v. Young Clement Rivers & Tisdale, LLP*, 359 S.C. 635, 642, 598 S.E.2d 717, 721 (Ct. App. 2004) (emphasis added). The lower court's discussion of this established principle of law is correct.

Appellants' reliance on *Kindred Nursing Ctrs. Ltd. P'ship v. Clark*, 137 S. Ct. 1421 (2017), is also misplaced. An accurate explanation of the Kentucky Supreme Court's findings in *Kindred* demonstrates that the lower court in this case ruled squarely in line with the United States Supreme Court's opinion. The Kentucky Supreme Court was presented with whether powers of attorney executed by two deceased nursing home residents conferred on the named attorneys-in-fact the power to enter into an arbitration agreement. *Id.* at 1425. The Kentucky Supreme Court concluded one power of attorney "did not permit [the attorney-in-fact] to enter into an arbitration agreement . . . [because] neither the provision authorizing her to bring legal proceedings nor the one enabling her to make property-related contracts reached quite that distance." *Id.* It concluded the other power of attorney did grant the attorney-in-fact the authority to enter an arbitration agreement because it granted the power to "dispose of all matters affecting me and/or my

estate in any possible way.” *Id.* After conducting this individual assessment of the powers conferred by each power of attorney, the Kentucky Supreme Court went a step further and held that, regardless of the interpretation of the language of each power of attorney, they “could not entitle a representative to enter into an arbitration agreement without *specifically* saying so.” *Id.* at 1426. This is the ruling the United States Supreme Court reversed. *Id.* at 1429. It held that “such a rule is too tailor-made to arbitration agreements . . . to survive the FAA’s edict against singling out those contracts.” *Id.* at 1427.

Significantly, after reversing the categorical rule that a power of attorney must specifically say it grants the power to enter into an arbitration agreement, the United States Supreme Court discussed the propriety of the Kentucky Supreme Court’s original analysis of whether the language of the power of attorney encompassed the authority to arbitrate. *Id.* at 1429. “The Kentucky Supreme Court began its opinion by stating that the Wellner power of attorney was insufficiently broad to give Beverly the authority to execute an arbitration agreement If that interpretation of the document is wholly independent of the court’s clear-statement rule, ***then nothing we have said disturbs it.***” *Id.* (internal citation omitted) (emphasis added). Therefore, under *Kindred*, it is proper for a court to analyze the language of a power of attorney to determine whether it encompasses the authority to agree to arbitrate. That is exactly what the lower court did in this case. It listened to counsels’ arguments as to the meaning and interpretation of the authority granted in the powers of attorney and determined Mr. Whaley did not grant Ms. Arredondo actual authority to agree to arbitration or waive his right to a jury trial. The Court should affirm the lower court on this issue.

II. THE LOWER COURT CORRECTLY HELD MS. ARREDONDO DID NOT HAVE APPARENT AUTHORITY TO EXECUTE THE ARBITRATION AGREEMENT

The lower court correctly ruled Ms. Arredondo did not have apparent authority to execute the arbitration agreement and waive Mr. Whaley's right to a jury trial.⁵ (R. pp. 3-4). As to the alleged source of apparent authority, Appellants again rely exclusively on the powers of attorney. They argue the powers of attorney are written representations by Mr. Whaley to the facility that manifest his intent for Ms. Arredondo to act on his behalf. (Br. of App. pp. 13-14). The lower court, having just ruled that the powers of attorney did not confer actual authority to Ms. Arredondo to execute the arbitration agreement, also correctly ruled they also could not be a source of apparent authority and determined there was no evidence of a representation by Mr. Whaley to Appellants as he was not present during the admissions process or the execution of the arbitration agreement. (R. pp. 3-4, 97). The lower court's ruling is correct and should be affirmed, and Appellants' argument fails for numerous independent reasons.

First, for the reasons stated above, the powers of attorney do not confer authority on Ms. Arredondo to execute the arbitration agreement and waive Mr. Whaley's right to a jury trial. Therefore, they cannot be the basis for apparent authority in this case. Indeed, Appellants' argument that the powers of attorney are the basis for both types of authority demonstrates the weakness of its apparent authority argument. The documents either provide actual authority or they do not. The powers of attorney cannot fall short of actual authority but support a finding of apparent authority.

⁵ The lower court ruled "Ms. Arredondo also lacked the authority to bind Mr. Whaley's estate to the arbitration agreement." (R. p. 4). Appellants do not appeal this ruling and, therefore, it is the law of the case. *See Shirley's Iron Works, Inc. v. City of Union*, 403 S.C. 560, 573, 743 S.E.2d 778, 785 (2013) ("An unappealed ruling is the law of the case and requires affirmance.").

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